RECEIVED

Nov 17 2022

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to the Court of Appeals
Appeal from Lexington County
Eugene C. Griffith, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Opinion No. 5943 (S.C. Ct. App. filed August 31, 2022)

Lower Court Case No. 2014-GS-32-03244

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

NICHOLAS BENJAMIN CHHITH-BERRY,

PETITIONER

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2019-000352

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI
TO THE COURT OF APPEALS

SUSAN B. HACKETT
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

I. Did the Court of Appeals err in determining the record was sufficient for the appellate court to determine the trial judge applied the correct burden of proof where the trial judge indicated he was denying immunity pursuant to the Protection of Persons and Property Act because the evidence was inconsistent?

II. To the extent the record was sufficient for meaningful appellate review, did the Court of Appeals err in affirming the trial court's denial of immunity from prosecution pursuant to the Protection of Persons and Property Act where the undisputed evidence showed Petitioner satisfied the common law elements of defense of others and the elements of the Act?

III. Did the Court of Appeals err in affirming the trial judge's suppression of testimony related to the deceased's prior shooting of two people four months prior to his death where (1) the evidence established the deceased's character through a specific instance, which was an essential element of Petitioner's claim of self-defense as it went directly to Petitioner's reasonable fear of the deceased, and (2) the significant probative value of the evidence was not substantially outweighed by the danger of confusing the issues?

IV. Did the Court of Appeals err by affirming the trial judge's failure to instruct the jury on the doctrine of imperfect defense of others to allow the jury to consider voluntary manslaughter if the jury were to determine that Petitioner's belief that his brother was in actual danger of losing his life or sustaining serious bodily injury was unreasonable where the evidence supported the instruction?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On November 3, 2014, a Lexington County grand jury indicted Petitioner for murder and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. R. 756-757; R. 758-759. The state, represented by David Shawn Graham and Alton H. Eargle, Jr., called the case to trial before the Honorable Eugene C. Griffith, Jr., and a jury on December 12-15, 2016. R. 1. H. Wayne Floyd represented Petitioner. R. 1. After Judge Griffith denied Petitioner's request for immunity, the case proceeded to trial before a jury. Ultimately, the jury found Petitioner guilty of murder and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. R. 688, ll. 2-8. Judge Griffith sentenced Petitioner to fifty years imprisonment for murder and five years imprisonment for the weapon. R. 695, ll. 12-16; R. 760; R. 761.

On December 22, 2016, Petitioner filed a motion for new trial and reconsideration of sentence. R. 725. On July 11, 2018, Judge Griffith heard the motions. R. 697. At the conclusion of the hearing, Judge Griffith took the matters under advisement. R. 720, ll. 8-14. On March 4, 2019, Judge Griffith issued a written order denying the motion for new trial and granting the motion for reconsideration. R. 728. Judge Griffith reduced Petitioner's sentence for murder to forty years imprisonment. R. 728; R. 762.

On March 5, 2019, Petitioner served his notice of appeal. After briefing and oral argument on February 17, 2022, the Court of Appeals affirmed Petitioner's convictions and sentences. State v. Chhith-Berry, Op. No. 5943 (S.C. Ct. App. filed Aug. 31, 2022) (Howard Adv. Sh. No. 31 at 62); App. 1-17. On September 12, 2022, Petitioner filed a petition for rehearing, and the Court requested the state file a return. App. 18-44. The state filed its return on September 23, 2022. App. 45-92. The Court denied the petition for rehearing on October 20, 2022. App. 94. Petitioner now files this petition for writ of certiorari.

ARGUMENT

I. The Court of Appeals erred in determining the record was sufficient for the appellate court to determine the trial judge applied the correct burden of proof where the trial judge indicated he was denying immunity pursuant to the Protection of Persons and Property Act because the evidence was inconsistent.

Relevant facts

After the immunity hearing, the judge explained he had “a problem with the immunity question” because Petitioner’s “testimony was consistent up until he took the one blow against [Galloway] and then it’s very vague and his memory is very, very, very vague from that point forward.” R. 158, ll. 8-12. Thus, the judge surmised that Petitioner’s “proof doesn’t get clear by a preponderance of the evidence that he needed to continue to defend his brother.” R. 158, ll. 12-14. The judge thought “he failed to meet his burden of proof of proving he would be entitled to immunity because he only has recollection of one blow that he took to assist his brother if that’s the case.” R. 158, ll. 18-22. Based upon Petitioner’s inability to recall what happened after he stabbed Galloway, the judge determined it was “a factual question.” R. 159, l. 2. The judge opined the statute required one “to prove more past the initial blow.” R. 160, ll. 6-12. Later, the judge revealed even more about his decision to deny immunity. He explained that the evidence went “both ways.” R. 512, ll. 23-24. Thus, he determined it was “a factual question.” R. 512, ll. 24-25.

The Court of Appeals erroneously held “the record [was] sufficient for this court to determine the trial court applied the correct burden of proof.” State v. Chhith-Berry, Op. No. 5943 (S.C. Ct. App. filed Aug. 31, 2022) (Howard Adv. Sh. No. 31 at 62); App. 1-17. Further, the Court held “[t]he trial court clearly found that [Petitioner] failed to prove by a preponderance

of the evidence he was entitled to immunity pursuant to section 16-11-440(C).” State v. Chhith-Berry, Op. No. 5943 (S.C. Ct. App. filed Aug. 31, 2022) (Howard Adv. Sh. No. 31 at 62); App. 1-17. This was error.

Discussion

The judge must “sit as fact-finder at this hearing, weigh the evidence presented, and reach a conclusion under the Act.” State v. Cervantes-Pavon, 426 S.C. 442, 451, 827 S.E.2d 564, 569 (2019). As this Court made clear, the judge must “sit as fact-finder at this hearing, weigh the evidence presented, and reach a conclusion under the Act.” Id. “[A] circuit court, as the designated fact-finder ... must provide adequate findings to support its decision so an appellate court can perform its role of reviewing the ruling under an abuse of discretion standard.” State v. McCarty, Op. No. 28116 (S.C. Sup. Ct. filed Sept. 21, 2022) (Howard Adv. Sh. No. 34 at 24).

Judge Griffith refused to sit as fact-finder in this case and denied immunity because he determined the facts presented were susceptible to going “both ways.” The Court of Appeals ignored Judge Griffith’s clear and unambiguous statements that he denied immunity because the evidence “went both ways,” which made it “a factual matter” for the jury. This Court should grant certiorari to address yet another instance of a trial judge abdicating his role as fact finder on the issue of immunity from prosecution pursuant to the Protection of Persons and Property Act.

II. To the extent the record was sufficient for meaningful appellate review, the Court of Appeals erred in affirming the trial court's denial of immunity from prosecution pursuant to the Protection of Persons and Property Act where the undisputed evidence showed Petitioner satisfied the common law elements of defense of others and the elements of the Act.

Relevant facts

In May 2014, Petitioner was seventeen years old, weighed approximately 115 pounds, and stood almost five feet and four inches tall. R. 107, ll. 5-11. On May 11, 2014, Jamie Galloway, who was much bigger than Petitioner, punched Petitioner and beat him up. R. 108, ll. 3-5 (describing the deceased as close to 200 pounds); R. 111, ll. 13-15; R. 115, ll. 13-16; R. 115, ll. 17-18; R. 123, ll. 6-11. When Petitioner went to the ground, Galloway started kicking him. R. 123, ll. 14-15. As a result, Petitioner was terrified of Galloway. R. 111, ll. 10-15; R. 115, ll. 9-16. Additionally, Petitioner was aware that Galloway was on bond for "a few attempted murders" because he had shot two people, about which he had bragged to Petitioner. R. 111, ll. 16-21; R. 115, ll. 19-25; R. 116, ll. 19-21; R. 119, ll. 2-6; R. 120, ll. 1-5.

Petitioner's brother, Adam, was dating Kayla Bass. R. 109, l. 14. Bass wanted to visit Kaysha Fontenot; therefore Petitioner, Adam, and Bass went to Fontenot's house during the middle of May 2014. R. 109, ll. 11-24. Haley Stone was visiting Fontenot as well. R. 110, ll. 14-16. Petitioner was drinking alcohol – about five shots and a few drinks. R. 118, ll. 16-19. He also consumed one and a half bars of Xanax. R. 118, ll. 20-21.

Approximately an hour after Petitioner arrived at Fontenot's house, Galloway arrived. R. 110, ll. 21-23. Initially, Bass, Fontenot, and Katie, who had driven Galloway to Fontenot's house, fought. R. 112, ll. 4-5; R. 112, ll. 13-18; R. 130, ll. 14-19. Petitioner grabbed one of the women and told them to stop fighting. R. 112, ll. 5-6; R. 130, ll. 23-25. Galloway also pulled

one of the women away. R. 130, ll. 20-21. Fortunately, the fighting among the women stopped. R. 112, ll. 5-6.

However, Galloway took off his shirt, showing his desire to fight, and punched Adam. R. 112, ll. 11-12; R. 112, ll. 24-25; R. 131, ll. 8-15; R. 131, l. 22 – R. 132, l. 1. Galloway continued swinging at Adam. R. 112, l. 25 – R. 113, l. 2; R. 133, ll. 1-21. Eventually, Adam, who was backing up, fell to the ground. R. 113, l. 2; R. 134, ll. 1-25. Adam tried to get away from Galloway, but he managed to get trapped in the corner of the porch. R. 113, ll. 3-8; R. 134, l. 1 – R. 136, l. 23. Adam fell to the floor of the porch, and Galloway continued his relentless assault. R. 113, ll. 5-8; R. 113, ll. 10-13; R. 137, 15-18.

Fearing for his brother's life, Petitioner stabbed Galloway once in the shoulder blade with his pocketknife. R. 113, ll. 8-9; R. 113, ll. 14-16; R. 116, ll. 4-6; R. 116, ll. 10-14; R. 138, ll. 12-15. Petitioner explained that he was defending his brother, Adam. R. 114, ll. 2-9; R. 114, ll. 17-19. “[B]lood [was] leaking from [Adam’s] face.” R. 114, ll. 3-4. Adam was “trapped on the porch” while Galloway beat him down. R. 114, ll. 8-9. Galloway collapsed to the side, which allowed Adam to stand up at that point. R. 113, ll. 17-19; R. 144, ll. 3-5. Adam and Petitioner then began striking Galloway. R. 113, ll. 20-22; R. 144, ll. 13-17. Petitioner was unable to remember what happened after the two began hitting Galloway. R. 113, ll. 17-24. After hearing Petitioner’s testimony, the judge denied Petitioner’s request. R. 158, ll. 8-22; R. 159, l. 2.

Discussion

In 2006, the South Carolina General Assembly adopted the Protection of Persons and Property Act. S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-410, et seq. The statute provides for immunity from prosecution to “[a] person who uses deadly force as permitted by the provisions of this article or another applicable provision of law.” S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-450(A).

A person who is not engaged in an unlawful activity and who is attacked in another place where he has a right to be, including, but not limited to, his place of business, has no duty to retreat and has the right to stand his ground and meet force with force, including deadly force, if he reasonably believes it is necessary to prevent death or great bodily injury to himself or another person or to prevent the commission of a violent crime as defined in Section 16-1-60.

S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-440(C). “A claim of immunity under the Act requires a pretrial determination using a preponderance of the evidence standard.” State v. Curry, 406 S.C. 364, 370, 752 S.E.2d 263, 266 (2013). As previously stated, the judge must “sit as fact-finder at this hearing, weigh the evidence presented, and reach a conclusion under the Act.” State v. Cervantes-Pavon, 426 S.C. 442, 451, 827 S.E.2d 564, 569 (2019).

Recently, this Court explained that it had interpreted “another applicable provision of law” found within section 16-11-450(A) to include the common law of self-defense. State v. Glenn, 429 S.C. 108, 117, 838 S.E.2d 491, 496 (2019) (citing State v. Scott, 424 S.C. 463, 473, 819 S.E.2d 116, 120 (2018)). “This means a defendant may seek immunity from prosecution under the Act by ‘demonstrating the elements of self-defense to the satisfaction of the trial court by a preponderance of the evidence.’” Id. at 118, 838 S.E.2d at 496 (quoting Curry, 406 S.C. at 372, 752 S.E.2d at 267). This Court explained that “a trial court should first consider whether the defendant has proved the elements of self-defense by a preponderance of the evidence.” Glenn, 429 S.C. at 118, 838 S.E.2d at 496. “If the defendant has failed to meet the elements of reasonable fear or the duty to retreat, the court should then determine whether section 16-11-440(A) or (C) is applicable.” Id. Where section 16-11-440(C) is applicable, “it replaces the duty to retreat element required to establish self-defense.” Id. “In determining whether a defendant satisfies section 16-11-440(C), the circuit court must analyze whether, at the time of the incident, he was engaged in an unlawful activity and was attacked in another place where he had a right to be.” Id.

Furthermore, when considering whether the defendant was in a place where he had a right to be as required by the Act, the trial court must consider proximate cause or a causal connection to the incident. Id. “[T]o bar a victim of crime from claiming immunity based on a hyper-technical reading of the statute would lead to absurd results when his presence in the place he was attacked had no relation to the incident itself.” Id. Additionally, “a proximate cause analysis must also be applied to the unlawful activity element of subsection (C).” Id.

Petitioner was entitled to immunity under the Act because he satisfied the elements of defense of others and section 16-11-440(C). The trial judge erred in finding otherwise, and the Court of Appeals erred in affirming the trial judge’s erroneous finding.

To establish self-defense, four elements must be present: (1) the defendant must be without fault in bringing on the difficulty; (2) the defendant must have been in actual imminent danger of losing his life or sustaining serious bodily injury, or he must have actually believed he was in imminent danger of losing his life or sustaining serious bodily injury; (3) if his defense is based upon his belief of imminent danger, a reasonably prudent man of ordinary firmness and courage would have entertained the same belief, or if the defendant was actually in imminent danger, the circumstances were such as would warrant a man of ordinary prudence, firmness and courage to strike the fatal blow in order to save himself from serious bodily harm or losing his own life; and (4) the defendant had no other probable means of avoiding the danger of losing his own life or sustaining serious bodily injury than to act as he did in the particular instance. State v. Hendrix, 270 S.C. 653, 657-658, 244 S.E.2d 503, 505-506 (1978); see also State v. Davis, 282 SC. 45, 46, 317 S.E.2d 452, 453 (1984).

Additionally, not only does the Act contemplate immunity when a person acts in defense of another, but the defense of others is a common law doctrine that falls within the ambit of

“another applicable provision of law” found within section 16-11-450(A). “Under the theory of defense of others, one is not guilty of taking the life of an assailant who assaults a friend, relative, or bystander if that friend, relative, or bystander would likewise have the right to take the life of the assailant in self-defense.” State v. Long, 325 S.C. 59, 64, 480 S.E.2d 62, 64 (1997); see also Douglas v. State, 332 S.C. 67, 73, 504 S.E.2d 307, 310 (1998). When a person acts in defense of another, the person “is in the same situation and upon the same plane as those who act in defense of themselves.” State v. Hewitt, 205 S.C. 207, 207, 31 S.E.2d 257, 258 (1944). Only those facts “which excuse the killing in defense of self likewise excuse a killing in defense of [another].” Id.; see also, State v. Harvey, 110 S.C. 274, 96 S.E. 399, 400 (1918); State v. Norris, 253 S.C. 31, 38, 168 S.E.2d 564, 567 (1969); State v. Sales, 285 S.C. 113, 328 S.E.2d 619 (1985).

An individual who provokes or initiates an assault may not assert self-defense. State v. Bryant, 336 S.C. 340, 345, 520 S.E.2d 319, 322 (1999). “Any act of the accused in violation of law and reasonably calculated to produce the occasion amounts to bringing on the difficulty and bars his right to assert self-defense as a justification or excuse for a homicide.” Id. In State v. Light, 378 S.C. 641, 650, 664 S.E.2d 465, 469 (2008), this Court held a defendant’s statement that it was either “her or me” after the defendant took the gun from the victim established that the defendant believed he was in imminent danger. This Court determined this belief was reasonable in light of the defendant’s testimony that in the preceding weeks the victim had been acting jealous, had followed him, and told him that if she caught him with another woman it was “going to be messy.” Id.

Also, in Hendrix, 270 S.C. at 659-660, 244 S.E.2d at 506, this Court held the second and third elements of self-defense were easily met as “the conclusion that he was actually in immediate danger of losing his own life was inescapable.” When the deceased arrived at the scene, he walked toward defendant who leveled a shotgun at the deceased and told him to “back off.” Id. at 660, 244

S.E.2d at 506. The deceased then retrieved his shotgun and returned to confront the defendant. Id. Although some witnesses testified the deceased never pointed his gun at the defendant and others testified he did, this Court concluded that under *any* version of the evidence “it [was] clear that an actual, imminent danger confronted the [defendant] a danger which, unless met with an immediate response, held the promise of death for the [defendant].” Id.

Once the right to fire in self-defense arises, a defendant is not required to wait until his adversary is on equal terms or until he has fired or aimed his weapon in order to act.” State v. Starnes, 340 S.C. 312, 322, 531 S.E.2d 907, 913 (2000). “Similarly, the accused doesn’t have to wait until his assailant gets the drop on him, he has the right to act under the law of self-preservation and prevent his assailant [from] getting the drop on him.” Id. (citing State v. Rash, 182 S.C. 42, 50, 188 S.E. 435, 438 (1936)). “[I]f it is apparent, or reasonably apparent his assailant is taking steps to get the drop on him, he must take steps first to prevent such assailant from getting the drop on him.” Rash, 182 S.C. at 42, 188 S.E. at 438. Furthermore, an individual has the right to act on appearances. State v. Starnes, 340 S.C. 312, 531 S.E.2d 907 (2000); see also State v. Jackson, 277 S.C. 271, 87 S.E.2d 681 (1955). Additionally, “when a person is justified in firing the first shot, he is justified in continuing to shoot until it is apparent that the danger to his life and body has ceased.” Hendrix, 270 S.C. at 661, 244 S.E.2d at 507.

Turning first to the defense of others, Petitioner satisfied each element of the defense. In order to evaluate Petitioner’s ability to exercise defense of others, it is necessary to examine whether Adam, Petitioner’s brother, was entitled to exercise self-defense. First, Adam was not at fault in bringing on the difficulty. The evidence showed Galloway struck Adam first. According to the undisputed evidence, Galloway removed his shirt, showing a willingness to fight. He then punched

Adam in the face. Thus, Adam was not the initial aggressor and was not at fault in bringing on the difficulty.

Second, Adam was in actual imminent danger of losing his life or sustaining serious bodily injury or actually believed he was in such danger. Petitioner's undisputed testimony showed Galloway was steadily punching Adam. Although Adam was defending himself with an occasional punch, he spent most of his time trying to block Galloway's fists and retreat from the onslaught. Petitioner saw Adam was bleeding profusely from his face as he endured Galloway's assault. Galloway was enormous, especially in comparison to Adam and Petitioner. Thus, a reasonable inference – and the only inference to be gleaned from the undisputed testimony – was that Adam was in actual imminent danger of losing his life or sustaining serious bodily injury or actually believed he was in such danger.

Third, to the extent Adam's fear was based upon his belief of imminent danger, a reasonably prudent man of ordinary firmness and courage would have entertained the same belief. Galloway's unrelenting barrage of punches to Adam, particularly to his face, would lead a reasonably prudent man to believe he was in imminent danger of losing his life or sustaining serious bodily injury. To the extent Adam was in actual fear of imminent danger, the circumstances required a man of ordinary prudence, firmness, and courage to strike back in self-defense. Galloway was beating Adam ruthlessly and single-mindedly. Galloway attacked Adam in the front yard showing he had little regard for anyone else, including the laws governing our society. In light of Petitioner's knowledge of Galloway's prior attempt to kill two people and Galloway's brutal assault on Adam, a reasonably prudent man in the same situation would have struck back in self-defense.

Judge Griffith expressed a "problem with the immunity question" because Petitioner was unable to show he "needed to continue to defend his brother" after the first blow. By agreeing with

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