RECEIVED

Jan 09 2023

S.C. SUPREME COURT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to the Court of Appeals
Appeal from Lexington County
The Honorable Eugene C. Griffith, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

v.

NICHOLAS BENJAMIN CHHITH-BERRY,

PETITIONER.

Appellate Case No. 2019-000352

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENSKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 14244

J. ANTHONY MABRY
Senior Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 11973
Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 734-6305

SAMUEL RICK HUBBARD

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

Analysis

The admission or exclusion of evidence is within the discretion of the trial court and will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion and prejudice to the accused. State v. Hatcher, 392 S.C. 86, 91, 708 S.E.2d 750, 753 (2011). "An abuse of discretion occurs when the conclusions of the trial court either lack evidentiary support or are controlled by an error of law." Id.: *see also* State v. Brockmeyer, 406 S.C. 324, 340, 751 S.E.2d 645, 653 (2013).

Rule 404(a)(2), SCRE, provides, in pertinent part:

Evidence of a person's character or a trait of character is not admissible for the purpose of proving action in conformity therewith on a particular occasion, except ...[e]vidence of a pertinent trait of character of the *victim*

²⁰ Petitioner testified at the "immunity" hearing he knew victim carried guns and had bragged to him about shooting 2 people and that he went back to the bar just to shoot some people. Petitioner did not testify to these details before the jury. However, he was not prohibited from doing so by Judge Griffith. He simply chose not to. He also chose not to ask or call any witness to testify to victim's reputation for violence. Petitioner testified before the jury he stabbed victim because he thought victim was going to beat his brother to death with his fists. (R. 569-83; 584-619).

of the crime offered by the accused, or by the prosecution to rebut the same...

(emphasis added).²¹ Moreover, Rule 405, SCRE, addresses methods of proving character:

(a) Reputation or Opinion. In all cases in which evidence of character or a trait of character of a person is admissible, proof may be made by testimony as to reputation, or by testimony in the form of an opinion. On cross-examination, inquiry is allowable into relevant specific instances of conduct.

(b) Specific Instances of Conduct. In cases where character or a trait of character is an *essential element* of a charge, claim, or *defense*, proof may also be made of specific instances of that person's conduct.

(emphasis added). However,

[i]n the murder prosecution of one pleading self-defense against an attack by the deceased, evidence of other *specific instances of violence* on the part of the deceased are not admissible unless they were directed against the defendant, or if directed against others, were so closely connected at point of time or occasion with the homicide as reasonably to indicate *the state of mind of the deceased at the time of the homicide, or to produce reasonable apprehension of great bodily harm*.

Day, 341 S.C. at 419-20, 535 S.E.2d 431 (emphasis added); State v. Mekler, 368 S.C. 1, 626 S.E.2d 890 (Ct. App. 2005), *affirmed on other grounds*, 379 S.C. 12, 664 S.E.2d 477 (2008)(same); Douglas, 411 S.C. at 324, 768 S.E.2d at 242. "Whether a specific instance of conduct by the deceased is closely connected in point of time or occasion to the homicide so as to be admissible is in the trial judge's discretion and will not be disturbed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion resulting in prejudice to the accused." Day, 341 S.C. at 420, 535 S.E.2d 431; State v. Brown, 321 S.C. 184, 467 S.E.2d 922 (1996); Douglas, 411 S.C. at 324, 768 S.E.2d at 242.

Petitioner argues the Court of Appeals erred in affirming Judge Griffith not allowing Edwards' testimony. Neither the Court of Appeals nor Judge Griffith erred. First, Judge Griffith admitted in evidence the prior incident occurring on January 9th and the following: (1) Specific

²¹ Further, Rule 404(b), SCRE, states evidence of a prior bad act is not admissible to show action in conformity therewith unless a specific exception is met, which is not relevant in this case.

instances of violent conduct of the victim; (2) victim was out on bond for 2 counts of attempted murder; (3) victim was wearing an ankle monitor because he was out on bond for attempted murder; (4) victim had shot 2 people with a gun in the prior incident; (5) victim was someone you would not want to fight with; (6) victim had assaulted petitioner 10 days before victim's murder; (7) petitioner knew of specific instances of victim's violent conduct; (8) petitioner was aware victim was out of bond for 2 counts of attempted murder; (9) petitioner knew victim was wearing an ankle monitor because of the same; (10) petitioner knew victim had shot 2 people with a gun; (11) victim "thought he was all hard and shit;" (12) victim had a record for assaulting women; (13) victim was allegedly on meth. Judge Griffith admitted this evidence because **these facts petitioner was aware of at the time of the incident for which he was on trial.** This evidence was from petitioner, State's witnesses, and recorded statements. (R. 416-17; 578 State's Ex. 43 & 44). What Judge Griffith held was not admissible was Edwards' testimony regarding *the details* of the prior shooting of *which petitioner was unaware*. This was not an abuse of discretion. Id.

In the present case, it is undisputed the prior incident *was not directed against petitioner*. He was not there. As a result, in keeping with the Rule and precedent, the facts of the prior incident are not admissible unless they are so closely connected in time or place to the present incident in order to: (1) reasonably show the state of mind of victim on the date of his murder, or (2) show a reasonable basis for fear of victim by petitioner. Day; Meckler; Douglas. They show neither.

First, the details of the prior incident of January 9, as related by Edwards, do not reasonably show victim's state of mind on May 19, in any way whatsoever. Haley Stone, the only sober witness on May 19th, testified victim and Adam were in a fist fight. Victim did not pull a gun and shoot anyone. Victim was not attacked by a group of men, dragged to the ground, and pull a gun and shoot anyone. (R. 303-37). Petitioner testified victim and Adam were in a fist fight. Victim

was punching Adam with his fists, and petitioner was afraid victim would kill Adam with his fists because victim was bigger than Adam. Petitioner testified he stabbed victim because he was afraid victim would beat his brother to death with his fists. He did not see victim pull a gun. He did not testify he was afraid victim would pull a gun. (R. 569-619). As a result, the facts of the prior incident do not reasonably show *victim's state of mind* on the date of his death. Day; Douglas; State v. McCray, 413 S.C. 76, 92-95, 773 S.E.2d 914, 923-924 (Ct. App. 2015)(2 witnesses' testimony regarding prior incident of victim were "situation specific" and unrelated to victim's state of mind at the time of the crime). Even if the fact victim had shot 2 people previously could show victim's state of mind on the date of his death, that incident was admitted in evidence.

As to the 2nd exception, petitioner completely ignores the court admitted the prior incident and what he knew about it, because it could form the basis of petitioner's reasonable apprehension of fear. Day; Meckler; Douglas.²² It was undisputed petitioner knew victim had shot 2 people with a gun, was out on bond for 2 counts of attempted murder, and wearing an ankle monitor. The court also admitted other evidence of why petitioner feared victim including the prior assault *and* the difference in sizes of petitioner and victim. Petitioner was not prohibited from introducing any

²² Petitioner argues Day and Meckler require admission because the prior incidents in those cases were 4 and 3 months before the murders. Both cases are distinguishable from this case. Further, time alone is not dispositive regarding admissibility of a prior incident. McCray, 413 S.C. at 92-95, 773 S.E.2d at 923-924. In Day, the prior incident was admissible because Day was seeking to show victim was acting under the same drug induced paranoia on the date of his death, as in the prior incident, showing both victim's state of mind and Day's reasonable apprehension of fear. In Meckler, Meckler was improperly not allowed to testify about a prior incident she was aware of and witnessed involving victim and person she was defending on the date of the killing, where it caused her reasonable apprehension of fear of victim and again showed victim's state of mind on the date of his death. In the present case, as discussed above, *Edward's testimony* does not establish victim's state of mind on the date of his death, **and** petitioner was not prohibited from testifying regarding the facts he knew of the prior incident which could have caused him to form a reasonable apprehension of fear of victim, and those facts were admitted before the jury and not disputed.

other evidence of what he knew about victim, including about the prior incident, that could have caused a reasonable apprehension of fear. He simply chose not to testify to it.

What Judge Griffith excluded was Edwards' details of the prior incident. Petitioner admitted pretrial, **and** before the jury, the only thing he knew about the prior incident was victim shot 2 people with a gun and was charged with 2 attempted murders. What the jury didn't hear was a group of men with no lawful authority grabbed and tackled victim on January 9th, punched him, struggled over a gun with him, and victim shot 2 of those men. Additionally, the State had a witness under subpoena who was going to testify the prior incident did not even happen the way Edwards claimed. Judge Griffith did not abuse his discretion in not admitting the details of the prior incident, which petitioner knew nothing about and could not have formed a basis for a reasonable apprehension of fear of victim. Rule 405(b), SCRE. Day; Meckler. *See also Douglas* (admission of details of victim's prior violent behavior defendant did not know about was harmless given other evidence of victim's prior violent behavior defendant did know about admitted); Hayes v. Jones, 2014 W.L. 1119460 (E.D.N.C. 2014)(*not reported in F.Supp.3d*)(since petitioner did not know about victim's prior violent crime conviction it was not admissible to prove petitioner's state of mind at the time of the homicide); State v. Corn, 307 N.C. 79, 85, 296 S.E.2d 261, 266 (N.C. 1982)(since appellant did not know about victim's prior conviction it was not admissible as to appellant's state of mind and it was clearly not reputation evidence).

Further, Judge Griffith was correct. Admitting Edwards' testimony could have confused the jury and the issues in the case. Rule 403, SCRE.²³ There would have been a trial within a trial over whether victim was at fault in the prior incident or not. *See United States v. Wellons*, 32 F.3d

²³ If Edwards testified, the jury could have believed victim was not at fault *or* been unsure victim was guilty of attempted murder. The State was also prepared to call a witness disputing Edwards' version of how the prior shooting occurred.

117, n. 3 (4th Cir. 1994)(even if evidence was admissible under Rule 405(a) it was properly excluded under Rule 403 because of its likelihood to confuse and misdirect the jury from the issues before it)(citing United States v. Waloke, 462 F.2d 824, 830 (8th Cir. 1992)(upholding exclusion, under Rule 403, of extrinsic evidence, offered by defendant, of collateral matters relating to victim’s character, where such evidence was properly admissible under Rule 405(a))²⁴; United States v. Piche, 981 F.2d 706 (4th Cir. 1992)(FRE 405(b) “possesses the greatest capacity to arouse prejudice, to confuse, to surprise, and to consume time.”)(quoting Rule 405 Advisory Committee’s Note), *superseded on other grounds*, United States v. Ziadeh, 104 Fed. Appx. 869 (4th Cir. 2004).²⁵

Finally, petitioner testified before the jury he stabbed victim because he thought victim was going to beat his brother to death with his fists. (R. 569-83). He did not testify he thought the victim was going to pull a firearm, so he stabbed him. (R. 569-83). Petitioner admitted victim did not have a gun but was beating his brother with his fists. (R. 569-83). As a result, Edwards’ details of the prior incident could not have shown victim’s state of mind on May 19th or petitioner’s reasonable apprehension of fear. Day; Meckler. Judge Griffith did not abuse his discretion. Id.

Regardless, any error in failing to admit Edward’s testimony was harmless and not prejudicial. The jury knew victim was out on bond for 2 counts of attempted murder, and was charged with shooting 2 people. Douglas, *supra*. Further, Petitioner was better off without Edwards’ inconsistent testimony. As a result, any error was harmless.

Question presented IV.

Below, petitioner requested a jury charge on imperfect self-defense reducing murder to manslaughter. (R. 624, Req. Ch. #4). After considering it, Judge Griffith declined to give the

²⁴ *Abrogated on other grounds*, Byrd v. United States, 138 S.Ct. 1518 (2018).

²⁵ *See also* State v. Lyles, 379 S.C. 328, 665 S.E.2d 201 (Ct. App. 2008).

instruction as it was not a correct statement of the law. (R. 686).²⁶ The court did not err in not instructing imperfect self-defense, because this State does not recognize it and a trial judge must charge the current and correct statement of the law; thus, the Court of Appeals correctly affirmed. Chhith-Berry, 437 S.C. at 540-41, 546-47, 878 S.E.2d at 359-60, 362-63.

An appellate court will not reverse the trial court's decision regarding jury instructions unless the trial court abused its discretion." Clark v. Cantrell, 339 S.C. 369, 389, 529 S.E.2d 528, 539 (2000). "An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's ruling is based on an error of law or, when grounded in factual conclusions, is without evidentiary support." Id. "[T]he trial judge is required only to charge the current and correct law of South Carolina." State v. Taylor, 356 S.C. 227, 231, 589 S.E.2d 1, 3 (2003). Petitioner alleges Judge Griffith erred in failing to charge imperfect self-defense, and the Court of Appeals erred in affirming. Petitioner is wrong.

South Carolina has not adopted imperfect self-defense, and it is not the law of this state. State v. Sams, 410 S.C. 303, 315, 764 S.E.2d 511, 517 (2014); State v. Finley, 277 S.C. 548, 551, 290 S.E.2d 808, 809 (1982)(rejecting the doctrine in this situation). Judge Griffith could not have erred in declining to instruct the jury on *imperfect self-defense* nor could the Court of Appeals erred. Taylor, 356 S.C. at 231, 589 S.E.2d at 3 (the court is only required to charge the current and correct law of S.C.); Finley, 277 S.C. at 551, 290 S.E.2d at 809(no error in not charging "theory of imperfect self-defense" it is not the law of this State); Sams, 410 S.C. at 315, 764 S.E.2d at 517 (S.C. has not adopted the "theory of imperfect self-defense" reducing murder to manslaughter); State v. Scott, 414 S.C. 482, 488, 779 S.E.2d 529, 532 (2015)(recognizing Sams

²⁶ Petitioner raised the instruction again in his new trial motion. Judge Griffith stood by his decision not to give the instruction because it was not a correct statement of the law, and he appropriately charged self-defense/defense of others including tailoring his instruction to this case. (R. 703-05).

holding that S.C. has not adopted imperfect self-defense); Ivey v. Catoe, 36 Fed. Appx. 718, n. 8 (4th Cir. 2002)(*Unpublished*)(S.C. does not recognize imperfect self-defense)(citing Finley).²⁷ Further, as recognized in Sams and Scott, even if South Carolina were to at some future day adopt imperfect self-defense, it “...would, at most, entitle him to an instruction on voluntary manslaughter, which he already received.” Scott, 414 S.C. at 488, 779 S.E.2d at 532 (quoting Sams, 410 S.C. at 316, 764 S.E.2d at 517.²⁸ Judge Griffith fully charged voluntary manslaughter. (R. 670-72). The Court of Appeals appropriately denied this claim. Scott; Sams.

CONCLUSION

For the above stated reasons, the Petition for Writ of Certiorari should be denied.